1993

Medical Leasing, LTD., a Utah partnership v.
Anthony W. Middleton, Jr., Carol S. Middleton,
George W. Middleton, Jean H. Middleton, Delores
B. Middleton, Richard G. Middleton, Jane G.
Middleton, Mary Middleton Dahl and Richard P.
Middleton, executor of the Estate of Victoria Ann M.
Stearn : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE SUPREME COURT:

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Section 78-2-2-(3)(j), Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the 1980 Amended Ground Lease or law required written notice of default as a condition precedent to suit for breach of an express provision of the Lease or for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review for correctness. Kimball v. Campbell, 699 P. 2d 714, 716 (Utah 1985).

2. Whether these Middletons are jointly liable for the acts of Anthony Middleton when Medical Leasing knew that Anthony did not have authority to act for these Middletons.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review for correctness. Kimball v. Campbell, supra.

3. Whether a threat of litigation by one tenant-in-common constitutes a breach of the lease, or whether all tenants-in-common must join as plaintiffs in any legal action against their tenant.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review for correctness. Kimball v. Campbell, supra.

4. Whether the common-law rule, that tenants-in-common made separate leases with their common tenant, applies, or whether under the Amended Lease or by operation of law

Middletons agreed to be jointly and severally liable for the torts or breach of contract of another tenant-in-common.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review for correctness; interpretation of contract is question of law and trial court's interpretation of a contract as a matter of law is accorded no particular weight. Kimball v. Campbell, supra. Determination of whether writing is ambiguous is question of law. Correction-of-error standard accords no deference to trial court. D'Aston v. D'Aston, 808 P.2d 111, 114 (Utah App. 1990).

5. Whether Anthony Middleton's action constitute a breach of the express provisions of Paragraph 8 of the Amended Lease.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review for correctness. Kimball v. Campbell, supra.

6. Whether there was a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing by Anthony Middleton, a tenant-in-common, and, if so, whether such breach, based on acts which are unauthorized and not ratified, results in joint liability for all tenants-in-common.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review for correctness. Kimball v. Campbell, supra.

7. Are all Middletons jointly liable for breach of contract and/or breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing, when Medical Leasing neither pleaded joint liability nor alleged facts to support a claim of joint liability, and where Medical Leasing did not move to amend its pleadings to assert joint liability?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review by Supreme Court for correctness. Trial court's conclusions of law are not given special deference. Bountiful v. Riley, 784 P.2d 1174 (Utah 1989).

8. Whether the trial court erred in awarding Medical Leasing attorneys' fees where (a) the verdict did not specify a finding of a breach of the express terms of the Lease, (b) there was no breach of the express terms of the Lease, and (c) Medical Leasing did not give Middletons notice as required by the Lease.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review as a question of law. Cottonwood Mall v. Sine, 830 P. 2d 266 (Utah 1992).

9. Whether Middletons are entitled to attorneys' fees for proceedings in the trial court and on this appeal, or whether on remand the trial court should determine if Middletons are entitled to attorneys' fees.

STANDARD OF REVIEW: De novo review as a question of law. Cottonwood Mall v. Sine, supra.

ADOPTION OF ISSUES AND ARGUMENT IN BRIEF OF OTHER APPELLANTS:

These Appellants adopt the following issues and points in Argument from the Brief of Anthony W. Middleton, et al.:

Issues:

- I. Whether admission of MLL's evidence regarding the Zions litigation was prejudicial error.
- VI. Whether MLL failed to present substantial evidence to establish that threats of litigation by Anthony W. Middleton, Jr. caused damaged to MLL.
- VII. Whether, as a matter of law, a threat of litigation not followed by suit and adjudication favorable to MLL is legally sufficient to satisfy the "improper means" element of MLL's tortious interference claims.
- VIII. Whether the trial court erred in failing to rule as a matter of law that Middletons, as landlords to MLL and owners of the real property in question, were privileged to interfere in negotiations for sublease of the property.

IX. Whether the jury instructions erroneously stated the applicable law respecting damages, thereby permitting a double recovery and relieving MLL of its duty to mitigate.

ARGUMENT:

POINT I: ADMISSION OF MLL'S EVIDENCE REGARDING THE ZIONS LAWSUIT WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

POINT VI: MLL'S CLAIMED DAMAGES WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

POINT VII: AS A MATTER OF LAW, MLL FAILED TO SATISFY THE IMPROPER PURPOSE AND IMPROPER MEANS ELEMENTS OF ITS TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE CLAIM.

POINT VIII: MIDDLETONS, AS OWNERS OF THE SUBJECT REAL PROPERTY AND LANDLORDS TO MLL WERE ABSOLUTELY PRIVILEGED TO INTERFERE IN SUBLEASE NEGOTIATIONS.

POINT IX: THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS ERRONEOUSLY PERMITTED A DOUBLE RECOVERY AND THE JUDGMENT IMPROPERLY RELIEVED MLL OF ITS DUTY TO MITIGATE DAMAGES.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE:

Section 68-3-1, Utah Code Ann. which reads:

The common law of England so far as it is not repugnant to, or in conflict with, the constitution or laws of the United States, or the constitution or laws of this state, and so far only as it is consistent with and adapted to the natural and physical conditions of this state and the necessities of the people hereof, is hereby adopted, and shall be the rule of decision in all courts of this state.

This statute and its application are discussed in Point IV of the Argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

A. NATURE OF THE CASE.

Medical Leasing, Ltd. ("MLL"), as Tenant, leased ground from the Middletons, owners as tenants-in-common. MLL was negotiating with Roger Boyer ("Boyer"), president

of The Boyer Company ("Boyer Co."), for the sublease and development of the property. When those negotiations failed, MLL sued the Middletons based solely on acts of Anthony Middleton, for (as pertinent to this appeal) (a) the tort of intentional interference with prospective economic relations, (b) breach of the lease and (c) breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT.

The jury found in special interrogatories: (a) Anthony and his wife, Carol Middleton,¹ (i) intentionally interfered with MLL's prospective economic relationship with Boyer Co. (R. at 1569) and (ii) breached the express terms of the lease "and/or" the covenant of good faith and fair dealing (R. at 1572), and that (b) the other Middletons did not interfere (R. at 1569-70) or breach the lease (R. at 1572-73), implicitly finding MLL had been told and knew Anthony was not authorized to act for the others, and (c) MLL should recover general damages of \$2,582,780 from Anthony and Carol Middleton (R. at 1574) and punitive damages of \$75,000 from Anthony Middleton (R. at 1584).

After the jury's verdict, the trial court ruled that, the jury verdict notwithstanding, all Middletons were jointly and severally liable for the breach of lease by Anthony and Carol Middleton (R. at 2962) solely because they signed the Lease as "Landlord." After denying Middletons' motions for JNOV and new trial, the Court entered judgment against all Middletons for \$2,582,780 plus interest, attorney's fees of \$275,000, costs, and for \$75,000 in punitive damages against Anthony Middleton. R. at 2964.

¹ Carol Middleton's liability could be based only on a finding that her husband, Anthony Middleton, was her agent. See Special Interrogatory No. 25, R. at 1543, and Answer to Special Verdict, ¶ 1, 4, R. at 1569, 2572.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS.²

The Middletons own as tenants in common³ 10 acres of raw ground at the northwest corner of 7th East and 39th South in Salt Lake County, Utah. Dr. R. P. Middleton and Dr. Anthony Middleton, (Sr.), brothers, and Delores Middleton, widow of another brother, originally owned the property. R. P. Middleton's one-third interest in the property was conveyed to his children, Dr. Richard G. Middleton (R. at 4972), Dr. Mary Middleton Dahl and Victoria Ann Stearn, and R. G.'s wife, Jane. The one-third interest of Anthony Middleton, Sr. was conveyed to his sons, Dr. Anthony Middleton, Jr. (R. at 4317) and Dr. George Middleton, and their wives, Carol and Jean. The aged widow, Delores Middleton, a resident of the District of Columbia (R. at 321, ¶ 9; 412, ¶ 9), has retained her one-third interest.

MLL is a partnership (Amended Complaint, ¶ 4, R. at 320) whose general partners are Dr. Wallace H. Ring, Dr. John C. Adair and Dr. Harry C. Wong. R. at 3988.

In 1975, MLL's predecessor proposed to construct a surgical center on two acres of the property. Because the Middletons wanted to keep the parcel intact rather than lease only the two acres, the entire parcel was leased for 50 years with a 30-year option to renew (the "Ground Lease") R. at 4999, l. 22. The rent was set at a modest level⁴ to cover just the two acres of land to be used for the surgical center. R. at 4999, l. 19-22. The Middletons

² The lengthy Statement of Facts is not necessary to raise or identify the issues asserted in this Brief. Indeed, the issues raised in this Brief by these Middletons are all issues of law; and only Issue VI and the corresponding Point VI in the Brief of Anthony Middleton, et al., adopted by these Middletons, challenges the sufficiency of the evidence. The detail is provided, however to assist the Court in understanding the case. The evidence is stated in the light most favorable to the findings of the jury in its answers to interrogatories in the Special Verdict, R. at 1569. See Koer v. Mayfair Markets, 431 P.2d 566 (Utah 1966).

³ Ownership as tenants in common was alleged in the amended complaint, ¶¶ 5-13, R. at 321-22, and admitted in Middletons' answers, R. at 391-92 and 412. See also R. at 899, l. 16-18.

⁴ For the whole parcel, the rent was only \$260 per month during construction of the surgical center, and \$6,240 for the following year. The rent was \$15,000 for the fifth year of the Lease. Ex. P-1, ¶ 1.2.

believed they would be able to participate in further development rentals because if MLL undertook to sublease the remaining property to a major independent developer, as a practical matter, the developer or the developer's lender would likely insist that MLL obtain the Middletons' agreement to subordinate⁵ (i.e., mortgage) the fee to the development lender's lien (R. P. Middleton, R. at unnumbered page following 5701) or that the lenders would require consent to the development or changes in the lease; then the parties would work together on the development and Middletons would participate therein. R. at 4998-99, 5001-2, 5004. The Middletons subordinated to MLL's construction lender their fee interest in the two acres where the surgical center would be built (Ex. P-1 at 9-14), but expressly did not subordinate the rest. Id. at 14.

Five years later, Middletons were asked to subordinate another .75 acre. An Amended Ground Lease (Ex. P-3) ("Amended Lease") made in 1980 provided for the requested subordination.⁶ Ex. P-3 at 7-12. It changed the renewal period from 30 to 15 years.

Each Middleton signed the Amended Lease separately as "Landlord" and it refers throughout to "Landlord" in the singular. The Lease is silent concerning whether the parties intended the Middletons, as tenants-in-common, to be jointly liable for the acts of one of them.

The Amended Lease specifically states the Middletons are not required to give further consent or subordination for development, but that such consent is "solely at

⁵ The original Ground Lease in 1975 stated: "Tenant has represented to Landlord that it will be impossible for it to finance the construction of the Surgical Center without the subordination of the Landlord of its fee title to the two acres. . . ." Ex. P-1 at 10.

⁶ For the first three years of the Amended Lease, rent for the whole property was only \$25,200 per year. MLL was responsible for utilities and taxes.

landlord's discretion." ¶ 8. Therefore, if MLL asked for consent or subordination for development, the Middletons anticipated asking for more lease income in return. R. at 5004. MLL had a similar view: if MLL asked Middletons for consent, Middletons would ask for more money. Dr. Wong, R. at 4916.

The Amended Lease contains at paragraph 12 a "notice and right to cure provision" benefitting MLL and its lenders and subtenants:

Landlord further agrees that in the event of any default by Tenant under this Ground lease, any mortgagee or other holder of a security interest in Tenant's leasehold or improvements and/or any assignee or subtenant of Tenant may cure such default within the time allowed Tenant for same hereunder and continue this Ground Lease in full force and effect.

The following additional provisions of the Amended Lease are pertinent: paragraph 6, regarding default; paragraph 8, regarding development of the remaining property; paragraphs 12 and 13 regarding notices; and paragraph 16 regarding attorneys' fees. These provisions are set out in the Argument.

Three weeks after the Amended Lease was signed, MLL subleased a part of the property to Zions Bank. ("Zions Sublease" dated August 22, 1980, Ex. P-4). Coinciding with the Amended Lease's notice and right to cure clause, Zions Sublease paragraph 15 reads:

In the event Lessor receives any notice of any default under said Amended Ground Lease, Lessor shall promptly, no later than three (3) days from the receipt of said notice by Lessor, deliver to Lessee a copy of said notice. Lessee may elect, in its sole discretion, to cure said default on behalf of Lessor and thereby reinstate and continue in effect said Amended Ground Lease. In the event Lessee remedies any such default [Lessor is responsible for Lessee's costs].

Although the Middletons were not asked to subordinate, Zions insisted that it needed Middletons' consent to its sublease and MLL insisted that consent be given by the Middletons without compensation. Ex. P-6. Zions, even over MLL's objections (R. at 4161),

sued MLL and the Middletons for a declaration that consent was not necessary or, if necessary, that MLL must obtain it from Middletons. Zions Utah Bancorporation v. Medical Leasing Limited, et al. See Zions' Complaint, Ex. P-10. The Zions' complaint alleged: "Paragraph 8 of the Lease requires the consent of the Middletons" (§ 14); "Medical Leasing asserts that the consent of the Middletons is not required" (§ 16); "Medical Leasing refuses to procure the consent of Middletons" (§ 20); and "it is uncertain whether the consent of Middletons is required . . ." (§ 22). In 1985, the parties reached a settlement by which MLL paid the Middletons \$21,000 (R. at 4162, l. 5-9) and the parties agreed to a mutual release of all claims and a stipulation that restated paragraph 8 of the 1980 Amended Ground Lease to cure the "uncertainty" Zions had pleaded as to whether consent to subleases or development of the property was or was not required and under what conditions. Ex. P-16 at 4-5.

Prior to and during the Zions case, Anthony Middleton and George P. Middleton and their wives were represented by one law firm and the other Middletons had different counsel. R. at 4030, 4033; see Exs. P-8, P-11, P-15. Different positions were taken by each group. Id.

In 1987, MLL began discussing development of the remaining property (5.135 acres) with Boyer Co. (R. at 4050) expressly on a non-subordinated basis. Because MLL did not want to share any proceeds from such development with the Middletons, the Middletons were not told of the negotiations (Ring, R. at 4170, 4181) until 1989 (Dr. Wong, R. at 4894-95) when Boyer insisted on it.

In June 1988, MLL and Boyer Co. signed a letter agreement (Ex. P-22) (the "Development Agreement") for Boyer Co. to sublease and develop the remaining 5.135 acres, conditioned, among other things, upon Boyer Co. getting the property zoned

commercial and the parties signing a sublease by December 31, 1988. In December 1988, the time to sign the sublease was extended to January 31, 1989. Ex. P-32.

The Boyer Co. obtained rezoning and removed the contingencies of the Development Agreement (Ex. P-32), but MLL did not prepare the first draft of the proposed sublease until February 3, 1989, after the Development Agreement expired. Boyer Co.'s lawyer, Victor Taylor of Kimball, Parr, Crockett & Waddoups, on March 14, 1989 wrote (Ex. D-14) MLL's lawyer, John Parsons, that a number of "major business hurdles" must be resolved. He identified changes MLL would need to make in the Amended Lease, including:

- 1) MLL must obtain Middletons' consent to the Boyer Co. sublease; and
- 2) MLL and the Middletons must again amend the Amended Lease to provide that if MLL defaults on the Amended Lease the Middletons will "attorn" to Boyer Co. and will perform MLL's obligations to Boyer Co.⁷ under the sublease and Middletons would accept Boyer Co.'s performance of its obligation under the sublease by Boyer or by any sublessee of or lender to Boyer; and
- 3) measuring the rent to MLL in part on Boyer Co.'s rentals received from subtenants "violates the letter and spirit" of the provision in paragraph 8 of the Amended Lease under which MLL might sublease without Middleton consent,⁸ and that "the Sublessee [Boyer Co.] is unwilling to take the risk of such violation, the result of which could be termination" of the Amended Lease;

⁷ This attornment provision would impose MLL's duties to Boyer Co. on Middletons. Under the Amended Lease, Middletons are not required to do so. The trial court so ruled. R. 301-2.

⁸ Taylor said "having rental payable under the sublease determined on the basis of the rental income from the premises violates the letter and spirit of this provision," referring to ¶ 8 of the Amended Lease that an independent third party could develop without subordination. Ex. D-14. Taylor was referring to the text of the Amended Lease. He testified that his opinion did not change when he later was provided the text of paragraph 8 as modified by the Zions Stipulation. R. at 5439.

MLL objected to Boyer making requests of the Middletons for such concessions, anticipating the Middletons would ask for more rent. Dr. Ring, R. at 4170. MLL's position was that Boyer Co.'s lawyer was wrong on the first two points; it refused to change the rent clause and said Boyer Co. ought to be content with the "right to cure" clause that Zions accepted, rather than the attornment clause demanded.⁹ MLL's lawyer wrote to Boyer Co. on April 10, 1989 that . . . "MLL believes the consent of the Middleton's is not only unnecessary but the Middletons very likely will consider such a request unreasonable . . .". R. at 4399, Ex. D-15. MLL told Boyer the Middletons were "litigious" as evidenced by the Zions action, when in fact Middletons asserted counter-claims only after being sued by Zions and MLL. Exs. P-11 and P-15. MLL insisted that Boyer Co. was bound by the Development Agreement to sign the proposed sublease as is, threatening suit if necessary. R. at 4570.

Boyer Co. explained to its mortgage broker, Bonneville Mortgage Company, the nature of the proposed transaction and asked if financing could be arranged for the project using the proposed sublease. Banks, R. at 5396. Boyer Co.'s mortgage broker asked its legal counsel, Greg Bell of Kirton, McConkie & Bushnell, for an opinion as to the "financeability of the proposed arrangement," and

If in your professional opinion the proposed ground lease(s) are not acceptable to our investors, please so advise at your earliest convenience so that we can so advise our client. [Ex. D-17].

By letter of May 30, 1989, Greg Bell rendered his opinion to Bonneville Mortgage Company and Boyer Co. that Middletons' consent and attornment, inter alia, would be required by a lender, that he agreed "heartily" with Taylor's March 14, 1989 letter, and that

⁹ Boyer Co.'s lawyer, Mr. Taylor, testified as to the purpose and importance of the proposed provisions (R. at 5431-33, 5498-99, 5501-02).

the proposed transaction was too complex even if "very substantial changes are made in the leases." Ex. D-18.

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