1993

Medical Leasing, LTD., a Utah partnership v.
Anthony W. Middleton, Jr., Carol S. Middleton,
George W. Middleton, Jean H. Middleton, Delores
B. Middleton, Richard G. Middleton, Jane G.
Middleton, Mary Middleton Dahl and Richard P.
Middleton, executor of the Estate of Victoria Ann
M. Stearn : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

with the sublease.¹⁰ Consequently, Boyer's statements were perfectly admissible.

The Middletons argue that at trial Boyer testified he could not remember one way or the other the threats of litigation so that must prove the real reason that Boyer did not go forward with development of the project was the concerns expressed by Taylor in his March 14, 1989 letter. Again, the evidence was otherwise.

It is important to recognize at the outset that the jury was not bound to believe Boyer's testimony that he could not remember whether Anthony Middleton had threatened litigation. Boyer admitted that he and Anthony Middleton were long-time friends who were both involved as leaders of their stake in the L.D.S. church. Boyer was at best a reluctant witness with a convenient and almost total memory lapse concerning the transactions. Moreover, it is important that Boyer did not deny that threats of litigation had been made, but only said he could not remember one way or another whether there were threats. And, Boyer admitted that he may have told Anthony Middleton he was not interested in developing the Property if litigation would be involved and that threats of litigation would chill development of the Property. [R. 4863-4864]. Boyer clearly testified that if litigation had been

¹⁰ Even if the hearsay exception had not been available, the statements were necessary predicates to explain Anthony Middleton's threats in response to the statements, for which use the statements would not be offered for the truth of the matters stated and therefore would not be hearsay.

threatened he would not have been interested in proceeding with the project. [R. 4872-4873].¹¹

In addition, Boyer obviously understood at the November 11, 1989 meeting that if the deal went forward there would be litigation. [R. 5623-5627; Defendants' Exhibit 27]. There is no question but that Boyer knew he had been threatened by Anthony Middleton because his statements acknowledging that fact are reflected in the tape transcript of the November 11, 1989 meeting. [Defendants' Exhibit D-27]. In that respect, page 32 of Exhibit D-27 records the following conversation:

Mr. Boyer: We will litigate. We will be willing to litigate and prepared to litigate the status quo if we know we're going to be litigating anyway. We're now in a litigation box. We go forward we litigate, we go backward we litigate.

Mr. Ring: Is that your impression?

Mr. Boyer: I thought that's what both of you said. That's the implication. He said we would litigate if they don't participate, and you suggested that I think we have a binding agreement.

Mr. Ring: I think we do.

Mr. Boyer: What my point is, if we don't proceed I think the implication is we litigate. If we did proceed, the implication is we litigate.

Further, page 18 of Exhibit D-27 records the following exchange between Dr. Ring and Anthony Middleton in front of Boyer:

Dr. Ring: As a matter of fact, as you said right off the bat, you said it then and you said at every meeting we've had, is that if any development happens out there, we're going to sue.

¹¹ In that regard Boyer testified:
"Q. And if going forward with this development meant being involved, at all, in litigation with the Middletons, would it be your determination not to go forward?
A. That's correct, we would not regardless of our friendship.
Q. In other words, litigation itself would be threatening enough?
A. Yes." [R. 4872].

Anthony Middleton: No. That's only half of what I said. There would be -- very likely be -- a suit entered if zero participation on the part of the owners.

A transcript of a February 15, 1990 meeting also plainly evidences that Boyer was backing away from the sublease because of Anthony Middleton's threats. At the February 15, 1990 meeting at Boyer's office, shortly after Taylor's February 5, 1990 letter announcing Boyer had no further interest in pursuing the project, Boyer stated:

Well, we had, you know, Tony, he's called a couple of times. In fact, he called me I think it was last week and told me, I guess the essence of his comment was, I feel more strongly about the strength of my position, that almost is a direct quote, than I have ever before, after having gotten into this, which I honestly don't know how he could arrive at that conclusion, but that is his conclusion.

. . .

We had a discussion with Vic and he has suggested, and I don't know, it may have even been sent, but we are sending you a letter saying, look, this is a draft of it, saying, look, get your act together, when we can make a deal let's talk about a deal. In the meantime, we're kind of stepping back.

[Defendants' Exhibit 58 at 4].¹²

Although the Middletons now want to argue about whether Anthony Middleton's threats caused Boyer to walk from the transaction, the evidence was beyond question that was exactly the

¹² The Middletons point to Taylor's letter of February 5, 1990 in which Taylor notified Medical Leasing that Boyer was no longer interested in pursuing the project as proof that Boyer refused to go forward with the project because the concessions mentioned in Taylor's previous letter had not been obtained. At best, Taylor's letter was ambiguous in this regard. Interpreting the letter in the light most favorable to Medical Leasing, the letter totally supports Medical Leasing's theory that the Middletons' refusal to assure Boyer he would not be sued was what destroyed the deal. But, even if the letter is construed as meaning what the Middletons say it does, the jury was not bound to believe that the reasons asserted by Taylor in his letter were the real reasons for Boyer's decision not to go forward, especially when Taylor testified he didn't know why The Boyer Company pulled out. Obviously, as of February, 1990, Boyer was attempting to avoid any potential claim by Medical Leasing. Taylor's letter is also contradicted by the evidence of Boyer's own statement as to why Boyer did not proceed.

result Anthony Middleton intended unless Medical Leasing surrendered to his demands for more money. He knew from his earlier experience with the Zions litigation that by threatening litigation he could forestall development. [R. 4340-4341]. In fact, he wrote in his diary of his intention to forestall and, if necessary, to block development by litigation. [Plaintiff's Exhibit 37; R. 4344-4347]. Anthony Middleton even reminded Boyer that timing was critical in financing a commercial development and that outside of the appropriate time window it would become increasingly difficult for Boyer to get financing. [R. 5628]. Both Medical Leasing's and the Middletons' expert testimony confirmed the disastrous effect that threats of litigation would have on a proposed transaction. [R. 5099-5100, 5118-5119, 5325-5326]. In short, Anthony Middleton's threats had exactly the intended result.

The jury heard all the evidence and obviously refused to accept the Middletons' theory that the reason Boyer refused to go forward with the project related to concerns about financing expressed in Taylor's March 14, 1989 letter. The jury's reaction was not surprising in view of the overwhelming evidence that the only reason Boyer walked from the Property was because of Anthony Middleton's litigation threats.¹³ The Middletons were asking the jury to believe that despite the enormous work that Greg Gardner testified The Boyer Company had done with respect to the project over a period of over two years, including getting the Property

¹³ Of course, Medical Leasing's burden respecting causation was only to show that the threats were one of the proximate causes for the termination of the transaction.

rezoned, and despite the fact that discussions continued unabated for many months after Taylor's letter with little, if any, discussion concerning financing, and despite the fact that the discussions only turned sour after Anthony Middleton made his threats, that The Boyer Company walked from the sublease because of a perceived problem with financing without even attempting to present the project for financing to one single lender. The Middletons' arguments strained credulity and they can hardly complain that the jury did not agree.

The Middletons also assert in passing that their experts, Gary Banks and Gregory Bell, were of the opinion that the proposed project could not be financed by The Boyer Company without concessions from the Middletons. Again, the Middletons fail to marshal the evidence in this regard. As is set forth earlier in this brief (p. 24, ¶ 28), Medical Leasing's expert testified that in his opinion the project could be financed without any concessions. The jury obviously believed Medical Leasing's expert. The evidence fully supported, if not compelled, the jury verdict.

E. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY AWARDED MEDICAL LEASING ATTORNEY'S FEES.

The Middletons contend that the trial court erred in awarding attorney's fees to Medical Leasing because the Middletons were not given a notice of default as supposedly required by paragraph 16 of the Amended Ground Lease, that attorney's fees

allegedly cannot be awarded for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and because, so the argument goes, there was no finding that the Middletons breached the express terms of the Amended Ground Lease. These arguments should be rejected.

1. Notice of Default Was Not Required in Order for Medical Leasing to be Entitled to Attorney's Fees and, In Any Event, Notice Was Given.

Paragraph 16 of the Amended Ground Lease contained the following attorney's fees provision:

If Landlord or Tenant default hereunder or file suit against the other which is any way connected with this Lease, the defaulting party shall pay to the prevailing party a reasonable sum for attorney's fees, which shall be deemed to have accrued on the commencement of such action and shall be enforceable whether or not such action is prosecuted to judgment. [Emphasis added].

The Middletons' argument that in order to be entitled to attorney's fees under this provision Medical Leasing was required to give a written notice of default under paragraph 6 of the Amended Ground Lease cannot withstand analysis for at least three reasons.

First, as demonstrated earlier (pp. 41-43), and as the trial court ruled, paragraph 6 only required that a notice of default be given before the non-defaulting party could incur certain expenses in the performance of the lease or before the Middletons could terminate the lease. Paragraph 6 expressly did not limit any other remedies which the parties had.

Second, as earlier set forth (p. 44), notice of default was in fact given to the Middletons on December 8, 1989 when Medical Leasing's attorney, Mr. Parsons, sent to Richard P. Middleton on behalf of all the Middletons a copy of Parsons' previous November 17, 1989 default letter.

Third, Medical Leasing was entitled to recover attorney's fees under paragraph 16 whether or not the Middletons were technically in "default" under paragraph 6 because paragraph 16 allows attorney's fees to the prevailing party in any lawsuit "which is any way connected with this Lease." Indeed, the Middletons made this very argument below. They asserted that a party is entitled to attorney's fees under the Amended Ground Lease in two situations, that is if (1) the other party defaults; or (2) if the party prevails in a lawsuit which is in any way connected with the Lease. [See Williams & Hunt's Objection to Medical Leasing's Application for Attorney's Fees, and Moyle & Draper's Memorandum Opposing Plaintiff's Motion in Limine Re: Attorney's Fees, R. 1261-1264, 1268-1269]. The Middletons were correct in that regard.

2. The Middletons Did Breach the Express Terms of the Amended Ground Lease.

The Middletons, in ostrich-like fashion, erroneously argue that Medical Leasing never identified any breach by the Middletons of the express terms of the Lease and that, in any event, the jury never found a breach of the express provisions of the Lease.

To the contrary, the Middletons' wrongful threats of litigation made in order to derail the sublease with The Boyer Company constituted a breach of the express provisions of paragraph 8 of the Amended Ground Lease under which they agreed that the Property could be developed by an independent third party without their consent unless subordination was sought.

The claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing was also grounded upon the provisions of paragraph 8. The Utah Court of Appeals made it clear in Ted R. Brown & Associates v. Carnes Corp., 753 P.2d 964, 970-71 (Utah App. 1988), that the covenant of good faith and fair dealing is not something floating around unconnected to the contract between the parties. The covenant in fact arises from the contractual obligations the parties have voluntarily undertaken:

In exercising its rights under this final modification of the parties' contract, Carne's implied duty of good faith did not require it to keep extending the deadline ad infinitum until the Church contract was awarded. '[W]here the parties have made an express contract, the court should not find a different one by implication concerning the same subject matter if the evidence does not justify [such] an inference' . . . In other words, such an inference or covenant relating to a specific contract right excludes the possibility of an implied covenant of a different or contradictory nature. . . .

It is fundamental that every contract imposes a duty on the parties to exercise their contractual rights and perform their contractual obligations reasonably and in good faith . . . Nonetheless, a court may not make a better contract for the parties than they have made for themselves; furthermore, a court may not enforce asserted rights not supported by the contract itself. . . .

[753 P.2d at 970] [Emphasis added]. See also St. Benedict's Dev. v. St. Benedict's Hospital, 811 P.2d 194 (Utah 1991).

Thus, the jury's finding of a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing in this case could only have been premised on a finding that paragraph 8 of the Amended Ground Lease was expressly breached. [See Jury Instruction No. 24, R. 1541-1542]. Accordingly, the fact that special verdict question number 4 asked the jury whether the Middletons had breached the express terms of the Amended Ground Lease "and/or" the implied covenant of good faith is irrelevant.

The Middletons place great emphasis on McKenzie v. Kaiser-Aetna, 127 Cal.Rptr. 275 (Cal. App. 1976). McKenzie is not on point. In McKenzie, the attorney's fees provision in the contract only allowed attorney's fees "in any action brought to enforce the performance of this contract, or any of the terms, covenants or conditions thereof. . . ." The court thus observed that it was "necessary to determine whether all those causes of action were 'action[s] on [the] contract.'" The court concluded that an action for negligent misrepresentation is not an action on contract and that because the jury could have awarded its verdict on the basis of the negligent misrepresentation theory, fees could not be awarded.

In stark contrast, the attorney's fee provision in the present case allows fees in any suit which is "in any connected with this Lease." Both Medical Leasing's claims for express breach of contract and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing were actions on the contract and "connected with" the Amended Ground Lease.

3. Medical Leasing Was Entitled to Attorney's Fees For Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing.

The Middletons rely on this Court's decision in Cluff v. Culmer, 556 P.2d 498 (Utah 1976), in support of their argument that attorney's fees cannot be awarded for breach of the covenant of good faith. The Middletons' reliance is misplaced.

In Cluff, this Court upheld the trial court's refusal to allow attorney's fees, finding that an implied covenant arising from the landlord/tenant relationship (not the contract) that the tenant would not commit waste did not come within the scope of the attorney's fees provision because an action to recover damages for waste did not constitute an action to enforce the written contract. In other words, the implied covenant in Cluff did not arise from the language of the contract, but was grounded upon the existence of the landlord/tenant relationship. The three cases cited by the Cluff court, Forrester v. Cook, 292 P. 206 (Utah 1930), Leone v. Zuniga, 34 P.2d 699 (Utah 1934), and Jacobsen v. Swan, 278 P.2d 294 (Utah 1954), all involved contracts with a narrow attorney's fee provision that only allowed fees in suits to "enforce" the contract. In each case, the contract had already been forfeited and the court ruled the suit therefore was not to enforce the contract.

In the case at bar, the breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by the Middletons was in fact based upon the language of the paragraph 8 of the Amended Ground Lease entitling Medical Leasing to sublease for development without

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